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The prevmus szege had ]asted eleve:n mcmtha thxs- i
went on for a whole year, The Marathas outside

exercised their usual tactics, swooping down on

fomgmg parties, ocutting off supplies, and inter-

cepling communications. At Lawrence’s approach

they melted away, and no wiles of his could draw

them into the open field. The Mysore army

gradaally encircled the town more closely, until

it was cut off from the surrounding country,
Lawrence heard from Captain Dalton that pro-
vigions for three weeks only remained to him,
and made a hurried march for Trichinopoly. The
' Mysore force retreated into Srirangam, whence

he was unable to drive them, though he succeeded

in revictualling the town. Meanwhile Dupleix
sent reinforcements under M. Astruc to Trichin-
opoly, and sent an expedition under a kinsman
of Chanda Sahib to recover some of the strong
places in the Camatic, which the English of
. necessity had left insufficiently garrisoned.

A severe illness obliged Major Dmwrence to
retire into the Fort, instead of remaining in camp
ontside Trichinopoly with his men, and Astruc
took his advantage. To the south of the English
camp were the heights of the “ Five Rocks”— the
key of the surrounding country.” The sepoys left
to guard them suddenly found themselves sur-

_prlsed by Astruc, who set his men then and there ;

D
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| to cover the base and flanks of the heights with
fortifications, and made such speed that the work
wag, finished by the time that poor Lawem* |
dragged himself out in a fruitless attempt to
| Tecover the position next day. |
From the “ Five Rocks” the French could pre-

. vent all supplies being brought in te Trichinopoly.

~If another height, the Golden Roek, were taken,
‘there was no shelter between it and the city

0 for Lawrence's army, already driven from its old

camp.  On a July morning, while most of his =
| sepoys were recelving their rations, Lawrence
. heard the sound of fiving, and saw French gren-
adiers swarming up the sides of the Golden
Rock. = Before he could colleet  his men, the
French lilies were waving from the summit, and
the French army was gathered at the base. =
Before him were the rugged heights, where a
triumphant band stood ready to hurl him back;
behind him pressed the Maratha horsemen, eager
to pull down their prey. From either flank of
the rock came the rattle of the French artillery.
. On every side was death, whether he stood, or
fell back, or advanced. “The Golden Rock 18
~taken!” he cried; ‘‘it must be taken back!”
. Astrue saw Lawrence draw up his men—only
four huudred and twenty Buropeans and five
hundred sepoys in all—and lead them towards



THE END on' A DREAM—-—-I'IM 1;54 51 i

the 1f:ft of the base of the Golden Rool«. where. i
the whole French army waited for them. If the

Euglishman preferred to end it quickly, so much
the better; the French were ready, their right
against the left spur of the rock, and the Marathas
were ‘moving at Astruc’s command to take the

English in flank and rear. Only fifty yards

separated them, when a sudden blaze from the
rock overhead threw the French line into disorder,

Unnoted by Astrue, Lawrence had picked out

certain of his grenadiers and sepoys, and bidden
‘them seale the rock on its front, while he ad-
vanced.  Silently, without pulling trigger, the
men scrambled up, till they stood on the summit;

then they fell upon their enemy. It was death

or victory, and they knew it, and they changed
death into victory, and sent the Frenchmen over
. the opposite side of the rock.

As their shots erashed into the Frenech below,
Lawrence’s men fired, and then charged with fixed
bayonets—-and the French army wavered, broke,
and fled, In wvain Astruc threw himself among
the fugitives, trying to rally them; flushed with
victory as they had been some fow moments ago,
the surprise for the time had broken their nerve,
and they ran, while the Marathas covered their
retreat. :

A military ex[mrt gives the ver(hct that *“No
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i '.fmer feat of arms has bepn pecformed in any paart,

|| of the ‘world than the assault by a handfil of

i gtenudjerq of the Golden Rock, held by an enemy
‘that had just conquered it, and whose army was

 formed up at its base.'!

In Ditter mortification, Astruc went back fo
- Pondicherry : his successor tried blockade and
strategy with no effect, and was beaten in an
attempt  to intercept & convoy of provisions,

. Then Astrue returned with reinforcements, tOOkI__' il
. back the Five Rocks and the Golden Rack, and |

recommenced o blockade.  Lawrence waited till
hig own reinforcements arrived, and then on
October 1st, 1753, marched out and offered battle,
When Astrue declined it, Lawrence encaraped for
the might on the ground where his men were
drawn up, and next morning won a decisive
victory, driving the French across the Cauveri.
Astrue was taken prisoner, with over a hundred
of his army, and the rest vetreated into the island
of bumng.xm | |

““Je n'ai pas un homme de téte pour condu:tre la _
moindre opération,” wrote Dupleix, after hearing
of this reverse. For the time, he could do nothing
to repair it, and his Directors were urging him to .
conclude the war. e began negotiations with the
Finglish, who were not averse to peace. They had

! Malleson.
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_.-not e.nga,ged in war, uke Dupletx, led by a drcam il

! opera.tlons mter{'ered wﬂ;h commerce._ ‘30 thw
were ready to meet him half-way, save that tht,y
could not recognise him as Nawab of the Carnatic. |
While they disputed this point, a new come
. mandant at Srirangam bad surprised the sleepy

sepoys at one of the outworks of Trichinopoly

before daybreak, and might have been inside the

- walls "if the French troops could have refrained | =

from firing off two é‘aptmed guns with shouts of

“Wivele Roi : 17 The garrison woke up and let off 1

their pieces indiscriminately, by good luck killing
an English deserter who had undertaken to D‘uldb
the Frcnch In the darkness the attacking party
could not find the gate without his help.  Some
were killed, some leaped from the outwork at thé
risk of broken bones, the greater number were
taken prisoners.

So sure had they made of success thab 8

messenger had been sent to Dupleix as soon as '

the ontwork was taken to announce the capture of
Trichinopoly. “Had not Krench petulance made
them too soon discover themselves,” wrote Law-
(rence, ‘they perhaps might have had time to

‘execute their designs.” As it was, another mes- |

senger arrived some hours later to tell of the
disaster.
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Agam Dupleix tumed tio dxplemaey, and French e

Wi j_"'_i'a_nd English commissaries met to arrange the terms

. of peace. 'Neither side was unreasonable in their

 demands, but the East Indin Company would not |

‘give up the cause of their ally, Mohammad Ali—

‘since he had been their pretext for war, they

o scarce could do less—while Dupleix obgtinatgly I
Ll persisted in claiming the title of Nawab of the

Jarnatie. ! A letter from D.up]éix 'to_'_'_Busély.:_

' describes how the Frenmch commissaries duly

© exhibited firmans and documents in support of
their claim, all of which had been forged for iole P

occagion. This seems to have troubled him not
at all, but he speaks with righteous severity of
the unjustifiable behaviour of the English, who
declined to exhibit any documents whatever,
““ aither false or genuine,” and expected their
word to be taken without other formality, =

Dupleix’s obstinacy about a title is inexplicable |
in a man of his gening. Let who will call himself

Nawab of the Carnatic, the Governor of Pondl-

cherry, with Mme. Dupleix at his side, could make
him dance to French piping. But he must have
been overwrought by the long strain, and incap-

able of secing clearly. Moreover, just at this time, A

Bussy had signed an agreement with the Prime
Minister of the Deccan, whereby the French gained
the provinces known as the Northern Sirkars, with
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| 'tour hundro& a.nd sev&nby mlleq of sea c,oast and 8
revenue of £400,000. The practical effect of this
was ‘to give thew the mastery of the Decean ; .
should Dupleix bow befors Mohammad Ali wheu
he could rule Mohammad Ali's lord ?

“ Beventy years later, the man whom he. most
resembled in ambition, in genius, in the power of
" compelling others, came, under similar cireum-
. stances, at Dresden in 1813 and at Chﬁtlllon in
1814, to a similar resolution.”*

As with Napoleon, so with Dupleix, the resolu- ||
tion was fatal.  The Directors of the Bast India @ 0

- Company had long bewailed to the Enghsh Gova
ernment  the rvestless ambition of M. Dupleix;
the English Government made representations to
France, regretting that one man should have it
in his power to disturb the good understanding
between the two nations, and let it be known that
they were sending four ships and a regiment to

India. It 'was nothing to the Directors of the

Compagnie that Dupleix had nearly given France
an Eastern empire ; they saw their dividends fall-
ing, and they were weary of his urgency for men
and money, .
Thus it happened that France sent out a Commis-
‘sary to treat for peace—a M. Godeheu, supposed to
be the devoted friend of Dupleis, who had shown

1 Malleson.
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e hlm gre.at Lmdness i v the saving of hm life in _' i
_a-}fouth On his way to India (todehen wrote pro-, il
hiv (testing that he viewed his appomtmt-nt merely ag |

i an opportunity of profiting by Dupleix’s wisdom.

. When his ship’ arvived in Pondicherry Roads,
Dupleix hurried down to embrace the man for
' whom he had waited with impatience as ¢the
. dearest of his friends.” Once more he was hope-
ful, for two thousand troops were coming after

. Godeheu, The Raja of Tanjore, defeated by the :
. Marathas, was half disposed to break with the
. English, thanks to his skilful manipulation, and he

was dreaming of making perpetual alliance with
Portugal and adding Macao to the possessions Of
the Compagnie. _

Godehen, surrounded by his rrua,rds bdwéﬂ /
coldly to the man who held out his arms to him,
and produced & paper to be read at once. Dupleix

unfolded it, found it to he an order for his )

immediate return to France with all his family,
and tuwrned to Godehen for an explanation. With-
out allowing him time to speak, Godeheu put two
other papers into his hand, one a demand for a
detailed report upon the state of affairs, and the
other an order from King Louis revokmg hls.
appointment as Governor, el

At the first shock Dupleix grew pale, and made
“a gesture of astonishment”; then he fixed his
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' "'plercmg black eyeﬂ upon 'the Commmsary a8 he-_'-

‘agked whether he had any further orders. The"_ '

Cormmissary had an order for the arrest of Dupleix
should he offer any esistance, but he did not

think it necessary to produce this, Theré was

one glance of contempt for the false friend, and
one sigh, ere Dupleix turned away to summon the
Uouncil at Godehen's request. '

The Council was gathered in the vast hall with | _;. i
marble colonnades where Dupleix had received the =

homage of princes. The Commissary bade bis
 guards clear away the erowd who had pressed affer
them, ere his commission was read aloud. 'The
members of the Couneil gazed round therm in con-
sternation, drawing in their breaths and staring
at Dupleix, who sat with bent head on Godeleu's
right, silent and impassive, only betraying hig
emotion by some feverish movements of his hands.
When Godehea’s voice ceased, a chilling silence
fell upon the assembly, broken by a single ery of
“ Vive le Roi!” Dupleix was standing before
them, his arm uplifted, and all echoed his ery.
Then he left the hall and the Council followed

him,

Ten weeks later he started on his homeward.

‘voyage amid general lamentation, *Your de-
parture is a thunderbolt,” wrote Bussy, who only
‘consented to remain at his post at Dupleix’s
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i b Jentreaty The Vlceroy of the Decean bewalled:iff:-"
0% my uncle, Zafir Jung.”' Throughout the country
" 'ran the word that the new Governor of Pondi-

cherry understood nothing, and that it would be

| wige to make terms with Mohammad Al and

./ the English, who after all had gamed the upper
i) hand, i
. For Dupleix there were to be nine wem'y yea.,rs__- ;

' of waiting, memorialising and petitioning to no 1

. purpose.  The Clompagnie refused to repay omne A
_ penny of the £240,000 owing to him—aided and
abetted by Godeheu, who threw Dupleix's chief |

witness into prison, and then reported to the

Directors that the claim could not be estab]xshed
 gatisfactorily. Mme. Dupleix, for the first time in
her life, failed her hushand ; she who had ruled as:

a, princess in India could not endure poverty and '

neglect in France, and she died. His friends
deserted him ; Bussy broke off his ma,mage with
Mdlle. Dupleix. ‘“J'ai sacrifié ma jeunesse, ma
fortune, ma vie, pour enrichir ma nation en Asie,
Mes services sont traités de iable.s,_-ma, demande
est denoncé comme ridicule ; je suis traité comme
I'étre le plus vil du genre humain, Je suis dans la.
plus deplorable indigence; Ia petite proprieté qui
me restait vient d'efre saisie ; je suls c,ont;rd.mt de"

1 % Zafir Jung Bahadur” - “Victorious in Batnla,”——-the name.
gwon by the Viceroy to Dupleix, '
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.clema.nder une aenfenee de délm pour éwter d’ﬁtre:_'_.

 trainé en prison.”

| Bo Duple:tx wrote ina laat a,ppeai a.nd the docu‘-'.. i i ,'
ment lay unheeded with others at the Mimstére-__-f kat
" des Finances until they were scattered in the. '

.&treet by the mob of 1830. |
In the begmmng of November 1’76‘3, a Com-

mmsa,ry was ‘sent from the C‘h&be*let o) take: an
| mventory “of the contents of & certain Thonge in B e
~Rue Neuve des Capucines, only a few doors away ‘

from the Paris headquarters of the Compagnie des

Indes Onentales In one of the rooms on the
~ ground-floor he noted “a dead body, male, ox- |

tended on a bed with low posts.” It was the
body of the Ma.:rquls Dupleix, Zafir-Jung-Bahadur,
; Cumm&nder of Seven Thousand Horse, Governor
of Pondlcht,rry, Nawa.b from thv Kistna to Qapc [
| Jomonn : | | -
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Ar the outbreak of the Seven Years’ War in ]7bb _ AR

the Directors of the Compagnie des Indes Orien-
tales must have regretted the faithfulness with
. which M. Godeheu had carried out their 1nstruc-
tions. -
When Duplem was treabmg for peace, a few
months before his recall, Saunders had been

willing to agree practically to everything that he

required, save only in the matter of the title of
Nawab of the Carnatic. The peace made three

months after Dupleix had left India gave the e

English all that they had asked. The French i
had many native allies, the English at thay time
had only the half-hearted support of the Raja of

Tanjore, yet both Companies agreed for the future

to renounce all Moghul titles and dignities, and
never to interfere in the differences of the princes
of the (*ountry Bussy had obtamed a grant of
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Tthe. Northern Smka,rs to the hench ye!; it was
now agreed thut they had no exclusive rights -

| there; and certain other territories, already their &

||| property by right of gift or possession, were to be

divided between the Companies. One thing only

| did Godeheu leave undone of the things that he

. ought not-to have done. He did not recall Bussy
from the Deccan. -

These measures greatly weakened Buss _,r 8 ore(htf
. with the Viceroy, who was indignant that the sue-

. cession to the Carnatic should have been decided
. without reference to him. If the French were not = |

_ strong enough, said the Viceroy, thers must needs
be an a.]ha,nce with the English, since no one could
hope to remain on the throne of the Deccan with-
. out the support of one Power or the other. |
Bussy appeased him hy driving a --_.M_af_x,"at_ha'-. '
invasion out of Mysore, on condition that the

. Raja owned himself a vassal of the Deccan and

| paid arrears of tribute. Chased from the Viceroy's

service by Court intrigues, he was back again in

_ three months, reinstated in all titles and honours.
But by good luck for the English, the three
months chanced to be from the end of May to the
middle of August 1756, when their settlements in
Bengal were on the verge of being swept out of
' existence.  Another opportunity for France had
‘been lost—this time by no fault of her children.
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Had Bussy ﬂ:ten uommanded the troops of the

Decean, it is possible that the flag of St George
might not have been run up on Fort William at

the New Year.

The next opportumty of ret;npvmg the Coro-
pagnie’s fortunes was ruined as soon as it arrived
by the French Ministry, who were iuspired by the

outhreak of war in Europe to send out three

thousand men to India, under a commander who

- was given superior rank to Bussy.

Thomas Arthur Lally, son of one of the “Wﬂd |

Cleese” who took flight from Ireland after James

11’8 disastrous campaign and entered the French
gervice, at first sight appears one of those gallant

Irishmen who figure as the heroes of countless
romances, A captain in Dillon’s regiment at eight
years old, he was taken by his father to a siege

“that he might at least smell powder to gain

his first step ” Four years later, as “a holiday
amusement,” he was sent to mount his first guard.

Grown to manhood, he went as unaccredited am-
bassador from Cardinal Fleury to Russia. Foxr

his services on the field of Fontenoy, when the
Irish Brigade charged to the cry of * Remember

Limerick,” he was thanked by Louis XV. and the

Dauphin in person, and nominated Brigadier. Had

the War Office in Paris listened to his representa-

tions, France would have given better support to
E
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 Prince Charles Bdward in the winter of 1745-46.
. Disguised as a smuggler, he made his way across
to England in the wild hope of stirring an insur-

rection in the home counties. It was useless:
the English Government had wind of the plot,
and posted bills with bhis description at every
eross-road between the coast and London. Back
to the 'coast he went, and was impressed by a
gang of smugglers, As they dragged him to their
boat he heard them arguing whether it would not
be a profitable speculation to hunt for this Lally,
on whose head Government had set a great price.
Thanks to his arguments in favour of the small
profits and quick returns of smuggling, they

decided upon a run across to France, and Lally’s

gkilful pilotage ran them under the nose of a
French cruiser. The smugglers were lodged in
Boulogne prison, and Lally hastened to Versailles.

All that his Prince could offer him, an Irish

peerage, Lally refused until the King should come

to his own again. But he would never coase to
serve Stuart interests wherever he might, and he
would never lay down the sword against the
English, “We dream of beating the English on

‘this side of the water, since we cannot on the
~ other,” he wrote, and he went off to the campaign

in the Low Countries, where he distinguished
himself on every occasion. ““His escapes were the
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talk of the army The highest comphment paid I

to him was that of Marshal Saxe— On peut

dormir tranquillement, Lally est & l'ennemi”

In spite of all his gallantry, a more unwise

choice seldom was made, even by a Ministry, than

the selection of Lally to command in India. He

was past fifty, without any experience of the BEast

either in peace or war. The ‘great gentleness

of manner” that Voltaire noted in him in earlier

days, had vanished, and there remained only the

“stubborn fierceness of soul” and uncontrolled
bitterness of tongue that raised for him hosts of
enemiey wherever he went. Though an Irishman,
he could neither flatter nor cajole to gain his
object, and was entirely destitute of imagination=
two fatal defects for a man in his position. |

Evil omens were plentiful. There was a story
~probably one of those that are remembered or
invented after the catastrophe—that three young
men, going through Paris at night, passed a house

where a bourgeors was celebrating his daughter’s

wedding, and insisted on joining the party; that
one of them grossly insulted the bride, and was
obliged to save himself from the consequences by
confessing that he was Captain Lally and the
others were nobles of the Court. The girl's father
threw open the door. “You say you are nobles

of the Court, | am the public executioner, Go,
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and ta,ke heed lest it be not the last tm:te you pass /
throngh my hands.” There is no doubt about
‘another story that when Admiral &'Ache at length
- brought his’ ship into Pondicherry Roads, having
| taken all but a year over the voyage, some 'of |

" the guns which fired a salute from the city were

Joaded, and five balls went through the hull and
rigging of the vessel which carried Lally. The
gailors muttered gloomily, and many of the lands-
- meun were dismayed, A
Accordingly, all went wrong from the  moment
‘of Lally's setting foot on shore. As his I‘reua_h_, :
biographer says, it was no longer a question of
picking up the crown of the Moghul Emperor to =
set on the head of the King of France, but of i
guarding a shop. Lally, who had dreamed in his
young days of king-making, could not guard the
shop.  He had not the art of conciliating the
rajas, and he mnever tried to concilia.te the Couneil
of Pondicherry, whom he made no seeret of re-
gardmg as dishonest and imbecile. In many cases

this was true, and he had some excuse for his

stinging sarcasms when he found that not a man
- of the Council could tell him the strength of the
English garrisons in the neighbourliood, or the
number of rivers to be crossed between Pondi-
cherry and a fort sixteen miles distant. But
there were some points on which the Couneil
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' eould have "thISBd h1m 1f he had nob deternun"d._.”.

 against listening to them.

No sooner had the French ﬂeet dropped L&II}"

on shore than it was defeated by the English
fleet, and driven back to Pondicherry. Tally

atoned for this by forcing Cuddalore to surrender.

Though he was short of food, ammunition, guas,
an_d ‘mortars, and of money, he took Fort 5%
David within five weeks of his landing in India,

‘and would have attacked Madras if Admival

. d’Ache would have agreed to transport his army

thither. Now was the time to strike, he said, "

while the English were discouraged by their losses.

But the Admiral said that he had no provisions

and his men were all sick, and he sailed away
to Ceylon to watch for English merchant ships,
 Then Lally committed the only blunder un-
‘achieved by Godeheu, and ordered Bussy to leave
the Deccan and join him. Bussy was thunder-
- struck, knowing that to obey would mean the

abandonment of all his plans against Bengal, and.

the loss of the Deccan. ‘“Je frémis, monsieur,”
' he wrote to Lally, “mais j'obéis.”

Thus the only man who could have saved the
remnants of French dominion in the East was
dragged away from the outpost which he alone
could hold, at the bidding of a newcomer who
understood the situation so imperfectly as to
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write to the Governor  of Pondichbrry, i I‘n
| quoy consiste le profit que notre Compagnie et
notre comrmerce peuvent retirer des guerres et
des paix de M. de Bussy?” ' |
It was not likely that two such opposite natures
as Bussy and Lally would work together, even if
Bussy's heart had not been set upon a speedy
veturn to the Deccan with the reinforcements for
which he unavailingly importuned Lally. He had
all the gifts which Lally had not.  His geniality,
‘blended with a high-bred dignity, and his charm
of manner, his tact, coolness, and Judwment, his
skill in dealing with the men of all the varied
racos among whom he worked, wrought upon the
officers under Lally’s command, and they made
no secret of their admiration. Lally jealously
considered their homage as intended to spite him-
self, rather than as a just tribute to Bussy, whom
he styled “le plus cupide, le plus avare, le plus
" menteur, le plus pillard de tous les hommes.”
 Bussy, forced to stand by while the army with
‘which he might have founded an empire wag
_ thrown away in enterprises foredoomed to fail,
grew bitter and resentful. Dupleix, still penning
. memorials which the Directors never troubled to
. read, was avenged, had he ever known if, for

Bussy’s desertion.
The campaign opened well for France. The
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natwe Governor of Arcat was bmbed to aurrendel

the town, and the army arrived at Madras at the |

beginning of December 1758,
As some writers have noticed, it is from Madras

that the popular conception of India among the
unlearned of this country has been derived. The

impossibly blue sky, the dark-green rollers break-
ing upon a bright sandy beach, the tufted palm-
. trees and clustered banyans, the dark -skinned
natives, all may be seen in the coloured pictures
upon missionary boxes, or in missionary publica-

tions. The city is the oldest British possession

in India: it wag as long ago as 1639 that Mr
Francis Day, on behalf of the Company, rented
a strip of coast-land, a mile broad and six miles
in length, and on the island between the heavy

surf of the Bay of Bengal and the malodorous -

black ooze of the river Koum laid the founda-

tions of Fort St George, or White Town, It was

holy ground, for near it was the spot where St
Thomas, the Apostle of the Indies, had suffered

martyrdom : an early traveller, mnoticing the

number of vietims to elephantiasis in Madras,

has no doubt that they were the descendants of
the men who slew the blessed martyr.

Lally’s first attack was upon the native quarter,

Black Town, which was little defended either by

men or by fortifications, and fell an easy prey.
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] '“'?""The ‘camp - fo]lowers enrmhed 1hemselvea wxbh |

_ plunder, for Lally could not maintain the dis-

i cipline enforced by Bussy, who had once muleted

i grenadwr of a hundred rupees for picking an
 grange in a garden near his camp.
Within the walls of White Town was Stnnger
_._'ILamence, and the Governor, George Pigot, had
 the wisdom to leave the defence to him. An /

" unpublished journal in the Rewrd Office. at._..-___

| Madras thus begins the story of the siege: ‘“In

order to dispose the garrison with spirits and ag
' a Reward for the Bravery, it is resolved to pub-

lish to them in case the enemy shall be either

. defeated or compelled to raise the siege, the sum

of Rs. 50,000 shall be divided amongst them five
days after their defeat or retreat.” With truly
British stolidity, after this they elected the Mayor
and Sheriffs of Madras on the proper day, and
fired the usual salute of nine guns, which were
pointed at the enemy’s quarters, ‘‘in honour of
the new Mayor, zmd it is hoped with good Pﬂ'ect
upon the enemy.”

One of Lally’s best officers was taken prisoner,
another mortally wounded, at the beginning of
operations, and his army was entirely out of hand.
The men who shonld have been at work in the
trenches were hunting for treasure in the Black

| ! Quoted in Forrest’s ‘ Cities of India.’
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Town, and even some of the oﬁcam spent more

time in guarding their plunder than in doing
their duty. An English post had been left
untaken on the way from Arcot, and its garvison
now made constant attacks upon the French rear,
aided by a detachment of cavalry from Tanjore,
From the ramparts of Madras, French deserters,
of which there were some two hundred within
the city, held out a bottle of wine and a purse,
or shot letters on arrows into the camp, tempting
the besiegers to join them. The besiegers had |
neither powder, shot, or provisions; money and
men sent from home were intercepted at the Isle
of France by Admiral d'Ache, and supplies trickled
irregularly and ancertainly from Pondicherry.
Well might Lally write, ¢ Le désordre ne se com-
prend pas, et il est sang remeéde.  ILlenfer m’a
vomi dans ce pays d'iniquité.” |

When by incessant labour in the trenches he
had succeeded in constructing two batteries, and
had thrown shells by night and fired cannon by
day for six weeks, almost at the same time as a
breach was made in the walls, he heard that an
English fleet was on its way from Bombay. He
ordered an assault, in spite of his engineer officers,
who declared it would be fruitless, All was ready
for the night of February 16th, when in the after-
noon the KEnglish ships were seen in the bay. It
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b _I i wes hopeless; he had no bombs, and scarcely any .
10 powder, his native troops had disappeared, lacking

their pay, and the Kuropeans were threatening
. desertion. Next day he broke up camp and re-
treated, and at Pondicherry the men whose inert-
‘ness and ill-will had contributed to his failure,
made open demonstration of rejoicing.

While Lally wes staking everything upon the

| capture of Madras, the Deccan was lost to France.

Three months after Bussy's departure, a petty

. Raja in the Northern Sirkars seized Vizagatapam,
 looted the French factory, and then ran up the
| English colours and appealed for English help.

. In the teeth of all his Council, Clive sent Colonel

Forde to Vizagatapam, although it left Bengal
almost undefended. Forde, confronted with a
superior force, and with the army of the Vieeroy
ou his right and a French corps on his left, cap-
tured Masulipatam, and obliged the army occupy-
ing it to surrender. Then came what the Viceroy

had foretold: he was obliged to sign a treaty |

whereby he gave up Masulipatam and the Northern
Sirkars, undertaking to dismigs all Frenchmen in

hig service, and to give no help or protection to

. the enemies of the English, who, on their gide,
agreed to protect him against hiz foes. |

Misfortunes crowded thick and fast upon the
French during 1759 — that wonderful year in
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which, as Horace Wﬁlpble said, Ia.n._ Eng]i's_.hx.n.an ol

was obliged to ask every day, ©What new

victory 2" for fear of missing one in the Gazette. =

There was defeat and mutiny.  Lally fell ill,
D'Ache, beaten in a naval action off Fort St
David, sailed away with his fleet, never to ve-

turn.  The English had captured the town and.

fort of Wandiwash ; Lally regained the town by

a coup de mawm, and while he was besieging the

fort, with the assistance of Bussy, his ‘Maratha
seouts hurried in to tell him that Colonel Hyre
Coote was at hand, coming to its relief.

As Coote advanced, the French guns played

upon his line, and seemed to cause some disorder.
Lally, sword in hand, called upon his European
cavalry to charge. Not a man obeyed. It was

not until he had displaced their two chief officers

that the rank and file would follow him, and the
delay gave time for the English to bring up two
cannon. Only a few men were injured by the

discharge, but pani¢ seized the remainder, and

they fled, leaving Lally alone with his ADC )

a few paces from the English grenadiers.

Unhurt, but with his clothing riddled with

balls, he galloped to his infantry, and they re-
sponded to his cry. Their charge broke the
English line, which re-formed, and the columns
were mixed in hopeless confusion. Bussy on the
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| _--j]eft, ]ea.dmg his men to recover an 1ntrenchment
 carried by the English, had his horse shot under
 him and was taken prisoner, The French army
| fell back; the cavalry, who had regained their
courage too late, covering the retreat of the
infantry, and enabling Lally to save his park
of artillery.  All in turn had failed him, and as
he returned for the last time to Pondicherry he
A heaped bitter curses upon the heads of those
' whose “infernal plot” had succeeded. Hil
Bussy returned to France as soon as he was
released. Hig life’s work had been undone in a
few months, and he was left with such consolation
. as could be derived from the considerable forbune
| %ﬁh{ﬂ; he had carried away with him.
Lally’s work, too, was done. One after another,
all the French towns and forts were taken by the '
, English or surrendered by incapable defenders.
The case of Pondicherry was hopeless. No help

same from France, and the inhabitants would do

nothing to save themselves now that the supreme
hour had come. Some openly rebelled, some
gecretly conspired ; all thwarted every ome of his
proposals.  The town was covered with bills,
accusing him of having sold the French to the
enemy, A letter threatening him with death was
found on his table. Suffering from the climate,
and from an internal complaint, Lally struggled.
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for four months, to make head against his enemies

within and his enemies without. ' But in vain he
flung himself against the English lines: when a
disastrous storm damaged the fleet and destroyed
the siege-works and ammunition, he lay in bed,
too ill to move, and the cowards who gloried in
bringing all his plans to nought would not fall
upon the enemy at the moment when they might

have swept them from their position around’ the

city, Neither the “eternal sarcastic smile” with
which Lally had irmitated their susceptibilities at
his first coming, or the torrents of invective and
entreaty which he poured forth m hIS extremity,
had any effect.

In the afternoon of January 16th, 1761, the
garrison of Pondicherry ¢ drew up under arms on
the parade before the citadel, the English troops
facing them. ' Colonel Coote then reviewed the
line, which, exclusive of commissioned officers,
invalids, and others who had hid themselves,
amounted to 1100, all wearing the face of famine,
fatigue, or disease,”' Pondicherry had surren-
dered unconditionally, and the garrison and in-
habitants were prisoners of war,

The closing scenes were in keeping with the
rest of the story, When Lally, half dead, was
carried out of the fort in a palki, he was attacked

' Orme,
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by a crowd, among whom were two members of
~ his Couneil, and saved from being torn to pieces
| only by some English cavalrymen, who rushed up,
sabre in hand. A quarter of an hour later, his
intendant, an old man and nearly blind, was cut
“down as he tried to follow Lally, and his corpse
stripped and dragged about the town. It was
well known that he carried with him valuable
 evidence of the misdoings of the civil and military
| authorities in Pondicherry, and when these had
been put where they could do mo harm, no man
(troubled to look for his murderers. :
Having done nothing to avert the disaster,
Court, Ministry, and populace in France were
furious that it should have occurred, = Of course
it was any one’s fault but that of the men who
had disgraced Dupleix for trying to give France
an empire, and had subordinated Bussy to a chief
who was unfit for an Fastern command. * Nous
- sommes trahis | "—then, ag many times afterwards,
1t was the cry, and a scapegost was soon found.
Lally had been set free on parole in September
~-on the day after that on which George ILIL. had
been crowned King of Great Britain and France,
while Lally’s Prince watched from a comer of
Westminster Hall, vowing that he did not envy
the young man. On arriving in France, Lally
found none but enemies, In spite of past services
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. to France, an Imshman wag an dhen, and evary L
one was convineed that Lally had sold the French

possessions to the Wnglish, and, moreover, could
tell how much he had received for them. Even
the coachmen in the streets would ery to an
offending horse, “ Hue, Lally 1"

Warned by a pitiful few that a lettre de cac?wt
Was on its way, Lally would not esuape “T bring
hither my head snd my innocence” were his words
ere he surrendered himgelfat the gate of the Bastille,

There was more than a year of imprisoument to
be endured ere came the mockery of a trial before
the Parlement of Paris. Without counsel, with-
ont a single friend to encourage him, the weary
old man-—he was past sixty——fought for his life
before judges who were determined to condemn
him. For over three years the torture continued,
until Lally was adjudged guilty of having be-
trayed the interests of the king, of his state, and
of the Compagaie des Indes Ovientales. b

One of his judges voted for breaking him on
the wheel, and though this was changed to be-
heading, with confiscation of all his goods, hie was
made to suffer all that the vindictive hate of
small - minded men could devise.  Kicked by a
jailer, dragged in a cart to the Place de Greve,
bis hands bound, a gag between his lips, he was
hacked to pieces by a elumsy or brutal executioner.
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~ ““There is not another man in all India,” wrote
Eyre Coote on taking Pondicherry, “who could
have kept on foot for the same length of time an
army  without pay, and receiving no asalsba,nce
from any quarter.” | '
“ Lally était un grand fripon,” wrote Mme du
Deffand on his execution, “ ¢t, de plus, 11 était f'ort
désagréable.”

The traveller to Pondicherry in these days wﬂl e

see nothing of the old fortifieations which Lally
defended ; Eyre Coote's army blew them up before

they marched away. But the language spoken is

still French, and at the head of the pier still stand
the eight grey pillars which Bussy brought to
Dupleix, an earnest of his capture of Gingi.
Bussy’s tomb is in the old cemetery, near the
Cathedral. To the west of the pier are piied some
carven fragments from the Gingi temples, and
upon them, towering over gods and dancing women
~and distorted monsters, is a figure in the court
dress of the reign of Louis XV., one hand on his
~sword, the other grasping a half-rolled paper, the
wide and lofty head thrown back, the eyes gazing
far away. It is the statue of Dupleix, erected by
France in remorse that came just a hundred vears
too late. The Pondicherry paper which described
its unveiling in 1870 also told the public that the
first Prussians had crossed the French frontier,
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Tar scene must now change from the aouth to
Bengal. |

Learned historians deny any foundation to thog
story that the English trade in Bengal owed its
. foundation to Gabriel Boughton, an English sur:
geon, The legend rung that the Princess Jahanara,
daughter of Shah Jahan and the queen for whom
he built the Taj Mahal, was grievously disfigured
with hurns, and the Englishman who restored her
to health and beauty, when bidden to name his
own reward, asked that his countrymen might
trade in Bengal, duty free. = At least the histo-
rians allow some credence to another story, that
Boughton’s cure of a lady in the harem of Shah

Jahan’s favourite son gained leave for the Oompa.ny R

to build a factory at Hughli,

At first they were forbidden to fortify it in any
way, but an opportune rehellion of certain rajas in
the west, at the end of the seventeenth century,
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hrought them mstructlona from Aurangzlb to. de-”_

fend themselves, and they raised walls and bas-
. tions round a factory about twenty miles from
' Hughli, lately erected by a certain Job Charnock.
One of the phantom emperors who suceeeded
Aurangzib was taken ill just as he was about to
celebrate his wedding, and again a doctor in the

Company’s service was able to work a cure where

the hakims had failed. William Hamilton's fee
was a grant from the emperor to this factory of
~land extending for ten miles along either bank of
the river, and the City of Palaces began to arise.

* Calcutta is a wonderful city,” sings an Indian '
historian and poet, at the beglnnmg of the mine-
~ teenth century-— | |

“Tts buildings are heart-attracting and delightful,
The hat-wearing Englishmen who dwell in them
All speak the truth and have good dispositions.”

Unhappily, some fifty years before he wrote his
verses the hat-wearing Englishmen were not re-
garded with favour in Bengal, whatever their
virtues might have been. For many years the
ruler of Bengal and Bihar—unominally viceroy for
the Emperor of Delhi, but in reality his own
master—had been the great Nawab Aliverdi Khan,
who lived from youth to the age of eighty years,
hearing no musie, abstaining from all intoxicating
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_drink, and looking upon 1o woman who wag not

his wife. Cruel and unscrupulous, he was also -

wise, and in some degree just. So long as

he lived the three European nations-— English,

French, and Duteh-—who traded in Bengal, were
unmolested, in spite of some of his counsellors,

who looked jealously at their rapid increase of
wealth, “They are like bees,” he said, ‘‘who
produce honey when left in peace, but attack

those who foolishly disturb them,” and hig last
injunction to his successor ‘was to leave the

English alone. .

That succesgor, Siraj-ud-danla, the son of his
daughter, was one of the few characters in history

who seem to have had no redeeming qualities.

About twenty years old at the time of his grand-

father’s death in 1756, he was already notorious
for his lust and cruelty. His agents, in disguise,
gpied upon the Hindu women as they bathed in

the Ganges, and carried them off. He was often

seen at the ferry when the river was high, order:
ing the ferry-boats to be upset or sunk, so as to
bave the pleasurc of secing men, women, and little
children struggling and drowning in the deep
waters. His delight in torture and death was
useful when reasons of state required the removal
of some great noble or minister ; Aliverdi Khan
then would leave the business to his grandson,
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retiring to one of his houses or 'ga.rdena outside

Murshidabad,! that he mxght not be. dlsturhed b}f

the eries of the vietims.

. Sirajrud-daula had a grudge of long standmg-- |
against the English. “On certain occasions they
refused him admission into their factory at Cos-
. simbazar and their country houses, because, in
. fact, this excessively blustering and impertinent
. young man used to break the furniture, or, if it
pleased his fancy, take it away.” With the

French, on the other hand, he was on good terms,

‘and from time to time they cultivated his friend- =
ship with gifts, while the English did not even

" gend the usual presents on his accession. i
During the last illness of Aliverdi Khan, the
. Europeans in Bengal, fearing a contested suc-
cession, had repaired their old fortifieations or
added to them. The young Nawal’s first act was
to send an order that all new fortifications were
to be pulled down. The French, who had taken
care to send away the Nawab’s spies with a bribe,
submitted petitions, and were told that they were
at liberty to repair, provided that they built no
new fortifieations. Mr Drake, the Governor of
Calcutta, absolutely refused obedience. Ju the
days of Aliverdi Khan, when the Marathas were
raiding Bengal, leave had been given to the_
! Then the capital of Bengal.
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English to surround Caleutts with an entrench-
- ment always ‘known as “the Maratha ditch.”
Rumour said that Mr Drake had professed himself
content to fill up the ditch, if it were the Nawab’s
wish, “provided that he might use the heads of
Moors" (z.e., Muslims).

It is unlikely that Mr Drake said anything of
the kind, but whether the taunt were uttered by

. some thoughtless youth in his presence, or in-

vented for the ocdasion, Mv Drake’s refusal gave

Siraj-ud-danla the opportunity he needed. Spring-

g up in anger and pulling out his sword, be

swore that he would exterminate all the Feringhis,

and the only person who dared remonstrate was
his mother, In vain she wondered that a soldier
should stoop to war upon mere traders: her gon
was not to be moved. It was well known that
many nobles, in fear of him, had fled to the
English, or sent their treasures to Calcutta, think-
ing that he could not seize them there. Had not
the son of one of his uncle’s ministers escaped to
Caleutta with all his private fortune, and the
fortune of that same uncle—who was supposed to
have been poisoned in order to clear the way for
Siraj-ud-daula? Theve was wealth untold behind
the walls that the stiff-necked English refused to
raze to the ground at his bidding, and he meant
to have it.
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The English factory at Cossimbazar surrendered
without firing a shot, and the Nawab demanded
that M. Jean Law,' head of the French factory,
should come with him to help in the attack upon

\ Caleutta. * Caleutta is yours,” he said.. *1 give . '

. you that place and its dependencies as the price of
the services you will render me, but if you refuse
the offer I make you, you will soon see me fall on
you.”
. French and Scotch chivalry alike revo‘l'ted-, and
Law replied that it was impossible to fight against
the English, with whom France had no quarrel,
The Nawab « swore he would have what he wanted,
whether we wished it or not,” says Law, who
wasted much time in trying to appease him, At
the risk of his own life, and of ruin to his Com-
pany, Law still refused to march to Caleutta, and
the only part which the French took in the ensu-
ing tragedy was to succour some of the English
prisoners with clothes, food, and money, and to
save two or three beautiful Englishwomen from
the lust of Siraj-ud-daula. The Dutch, it may be
as well to note, had refused to make common
cause with the English against the enemy, and i
is hardly necessary to say that no acts of men,y
ave recorded of them. |
What took place at Caleutta in June 1756 is too

t Brothe; to the besieger of Trichinopoly.
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well known to need a description here; those who

have heard of no other event in Indian history
know of the “ Black Hole,” = After this the Nawab

returned to Murshidabad, and levied contributions

upon the F'rench and Dubch factories, to indevnify

himself for the trouble and expense of putting
down the English. Great was now his contempt

for all Europeans; “a pair of slippers,” he said,

“ig all that is needed to govern them.”

So great was the desire of all parties fo see the

‘tyrant humbled, that the French would not inter-
fere with the vengeance of the Hnglish when it
became known in Bengal, at about the same time
that France and Kngland were again at war, that
. Clive was coming from Madras with Admiral
‘Watson's fleet,

The Hindu governor left in charge of Caleutta

/was at a nautch when he heard that the English

[ had come back to claim their own. His garrison
- searcely waited to exchange shots before they

bolted, and he fled to Murshidabad to tell his

master that the newcomers were very unlike those
who had sailed down the river with Mr Drake, six

' months ago. His words were confirmed by a small .

foree which went ap the river past Chandernagore,
without hindrance from the French, captured the
fort. at Hughli, then “the second city in the
kingdom,” and destroyed the magazines,
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This news, to nuse the cxpresalon of a na.tlve_ |
 hist torian, “took the cotton out of the ears” of
. Siraj-ud-daunla, who marched from Murshidabad to.

Caleutta with his army and artillery. On o Feb-
ruary morning he was roused from sleep by volleys'

of musketry ; and if the thick fog had not..lhiddel;---
" his tent, he would have been a prisoner in the
| hands of Clive. As it was, he suffered hea#y' i

losses, and was thankful to make peace upon the

 terms dictated by the English——restoration of all
privileges that they had ever enjoyed, and full

compensation for all they had lost by his seizure
of Caleutta, |

Again the Nawab tried for a French alliance;
‘the French hated him, and would have preferred
to remain neutral, but France and England were
again at war, and they could not afford to rejecﬁ
an ally. Siraj-ud-daula might have taken action
on their behalf but for a catastrophe at Delhi, |

While all these things were happening in Bengal,
Ahmad Shah Daurani, an Afghan who had been
invading Hindustan with great industry and per-
severance for some years past, had taken the
capital and despoiled the inhabitants of every-
thing that had escaped the motice of his old
master, Nadir Shah. Siraj-ud-daula, ‘“the most
cowardly of men,” fancied that he might be the
next vietim, and thinking the English the strouger
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party in'Béng‘al wrote in terror to Clive, promis-

ing him Re. 100,000 a mcnth in return for hls_ |

protection.

Clive realised that there could be no peace in
Bengal nntil Siraj-ud-daula was crushed, and he
knew that a French alliance would wmake the
Nawab inconveniently strong. He could not be

generous to the French at the expense of hig own
nation and his own cmployers; he must act af

once, and technically he was within his rights,
since he knew that war had been declared hetween
France and England. But if he remembered the
generosity of the French at the time of the “Black
Hole,” he cannot have marched with a light Leart
upon Chandernagore, where they bad their head-
quarters in Bengal,

With Admiral Watson’s help, it was no great

matter to knock the crumbling fortifications to

pieces. Driven from post to post, the French

“gtood to their guns so long as they had any to
fire,” as an English eyewitness recorded, and at

last withdrew into the Fort. The batteries ware
covered with dead and wounded, the bastions
undermined ; theve was no disgrace in hoisting the
white flag. Civilians were allowed to go where
they pleased, with their effects; the garrison were
made prisoners of war.

Law was forced to leave Cossimbazar with his
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g_ar-rison, The Nawah sent for him, and teld h1m,
“‘in a shamefaced way,” that he must surrender to
the Hnglish or leave Bengal. ¢ Your nation is the
cause of all the importunities I now suffer from
the HEnglish. I do not wish to put the whole
country in trouble for your sake. You ought to
remember that when I had need of your assistance
you always refused it. Take what road you please,

' and God protect you” Ever shifty, he tried to

~ deprecate Law’s anger with a promise to send
for him again ““if anything new should happen.”
“Send for me again ?” was Law's scornful answer.
“Rest assured, my Lord Nawab, that this is the
last time we shall see each other.”

It was a true prophecy. The Nawab's cruelty
and greed had left him no friends, ‘¢ He spared
no one, not even his relatives, from whom he took
all the pensions aud all the offices which they had
held in the time of Aliverdi Khan. Was it pos-
sible for such a man to keep his throne?” His
nobles intrigued against him, and he was betrayed
on all sides. ““Bcarcely had he formed any project
when it was known to the lowest of his slaves.”*
Mir Jafar Ali Khan, his Moghul Commander-in-
Chief, wrote to Clive offering to come over to the
English in any general engagement if he might
rule in Bengal and Bihar instead of Siraj-ud-daula,

1 Law.
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On June 23, 1757, the armies met at Plassey,
and after hard fighting on both sides, an English
 bayonet charge put to flight the host of the Nawab.
At the end of the day, Mir Jafar went over to the

English camp, and the Nawab, who had mounted

a swift camel, was on the road to Murshidabad.

“ Migfortune has no friend,” says the native
chronicler in telling this story, and Siraj-ud-davla
found it true. Even when he opened his treasury
‘to his soldiers, it availed him nothing. Robbed
and deserted, he fled away from Murshidabad with
such jewels as he had been able to save, and took
boat for Patna, where he hoped to find Law,

' When he had gone some way, he ordered his
servant to land and get a light for his Aukka.
The man saw a hut in the jungle and asked the
oceupant for fire. Now the owner of the hut was
a man who had lately turned faquir, after having
his ears and nose eut off by order of Siraj-ud-daula.
 He recognised the servant, who had the Nawab’s

bejewelled chillom in his hand, and asked him

what he was doing in the jungle. The servant,

either a fool or a traitor, told what had bappened,

and the faquir, leaving him in the hut, hurried.

with the story to the governor of the nearest town.
Law arrived in the neighbourhood a few hours too
late to save the wretched Nawab, who was seized
and sent back to Murshidabad, where Mir Jafar’s
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further trouble. | it R
Mir Jafar was made Nawab in his stead on con- e

dition that he paid the expenses of the war. To
dethrone one king and set up another over a

country as large as Great Britain was no small

. ‘feat for a body of merchants, who had been driven : .
. with shame from their settlement twelve months

before they entered Murshidabad as conquerors.

14 i

After the first, the change of rulers seemed to
have effected liftle improvement in Bengal. The
new Nawab, forgetting that he owed his throne to.
the English, grew weary of being under Clive
tutelage, and bethought himself of another Buro-
pean alliance. |

Accordingly, he made overtures to the Dutch to
introduce a large Kuropean force iuto their factory
at Chinsurah, The fact that England and Holland
were ofticially at peace with one another in Europe
did not prevent the Dutch Government from send-
ing a fleet from Batavia, nor did it prevent the
Dutch  commander from seizing upon British
vessels, hauling down their colours, and carrying
off their guns and stores. :
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Clive had taken precauuons beforehand by

blocking the river, so as to prevent the Batavian
fleet from entering it.  He now seized the ships,
and sent an expedition to cut off the Dutch troops
before they could reach Chingurah.

The expedition was commanded by Colonel

Forde, just returned from his triumph in the
Deccan. He was not concerned about the
strength of the enemy, but he demurred to
attacking 'a nominally “friendly” Power, and
 wrote to ask for an order in Couneil. The letter
 was brought to Clive as he sat at the card-table,

and he took out a pencil and wrote on one of

the cards in his hand: “Dear Forde, fight them
immediately, I will send you the order in Council
to-morrow.” Then he called for another pack,
wmd went on with his game, while Forde went
in pursuit of the Dutch, whom he overtook within
“ight of Chinsurah, and beat in half an hour.
" Shortly after this, Clive’s health obliged him
“saturn to England, leaving very incompetent

| successors, who fell out with Mir Jafar. The

Naway was an old man, becoming imbecile, and
his habit of lavishing upon dancing - girls the
moxey with which he should have paid his troops
 led to inconvenience and disorders. Nevertheless,
it was unseemly that when he was deposed—
“ persnaded to resign” was the phrase used by
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" the Councﬂ of Caleutta-—in fa.vaur of hls son-

in-law, Mir Kasim, that part of the ag’raemmt i

o with: Mir Kasim shonld stipulate for a gratuity =
. of twenty lakhs of rupees’ for the Council.

Their punishment came swiftly, In a little ;
while they were quarrelling with Mir Kasim over
 the customs duties of Bengal. The trouble had

. been caused in great measure by the insolence

and dishonesty of certain Bengali agents whom

. the Company employed to carry on their inland =

- trade. These men, “ of no character or position,”

 “lorded it over the country, imprisoned ryots
and merchants,” and gave legitimate grounds for
Mir Kasim’s bitter complaints. The dispute was
aggravated by the unwisdom of Mr Ellis, head
‘of the English factory at Patna, who openly pro-
claimed war, and seized upon the fort and the
- city. He held them for about six hours, at the
end of which time the Nawab’s troops recovered
every position, and Ellis and his garrison wer,
obliged to surrender. ERL
In the war with the English that ensued, Mll‘"
Kasim's army was thrice defeated. ¢ Furious and
balf-disordered in his mind,” he commanded that
all his English prisoners at Patna should be

executed forthwith. = His native officers vefused o

obey him. ‘‘Arm the English, and we will ﬁght
them like soldiers.”
! £200,000.
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Then the Nawab turned to 4 scowling fellow,

who had once been in the service of the Kast
India Company, and was now in command of
two battalions in the Bengal army. In the
province of Troves, where he was born, he had
been known as Walter Reinhard. When he came
to India he called himself Somers; his morose
loock and sullen bearing made hig comrades in
the French army of Southern India turn this
into Sombre, and the natives corrupted it into
“Somrn.” He undertook to do what was required
“with ardour and alacrity,” and sent to the prison
to borrow all the knives and forks from the
English captives, declaring tha‘t_;;{.;-;he meant to
invite them to sup with him next evening,
When the hour for the meal was near, he sur-
rounded the prison with two companies of sepoys,
and sent for Ellis and eight others to come into
a little outer court. They were all terribly
mangled, and cut to pieces, and their bodies
thrown into a well in the square.” Then the
sepoys ascended to the roof of the house, and
fired down upon the captives assembled below.
Some took refuge in the inner rooms, and de-
fended themselves with bottles, plates, bricks, and
fragments of furniture, until they were over-
powered.  The sepoys themselves were horror-
stricken ; some refused to fire unless arms were
G
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given to the éaptives-, ?owi:‘:g that they were

oldiers, not butchers, but they were struck down
'by Somru, who set them an example by murder-
ing the infant child of Mr Ellis. At length, by
curses and blows, the sepoys were forced to com-
 plete their work. Neither age nor sex was spared,
and certain natives of Patna, who had been taken
prisoners with the English, shared their fate.  The

bodies were thrown into a well near that in whwh-- ;

Ellis and his companions were lying. |

The English were not slow in taking revenge ity
driven out of Patna, Mir Kasim fled to the Nawab
of Oudh, accompanied by Somru, who saw clearly
that his old master’s day was over, and therefore
plundered him of all that he could, and transferred
his allegiance to Oudh.,

“It was a rule,” it was said, ¢ with Somru, to
enter the field of battle in column at the safest
point ; form line, facing the enemy, fire a few
rounds in the direction where they stood, without
' regard to the distance or effect; form square, and
await the course of events. If victory declared
for the enemy, he sold his unbroken force to
him to great advantage; if for his friends, he
assisted them in collecting the plunder.”! On the
field of Buxar, seeing that the Huglish were pre-
vailing, he withdrew his brigades and guns from

1 Sleeman.
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action at a critical moment, and the united forces

of Oudh and Bengal suffered a crushing defeat.
When the Nawab sued for peace, one of the

conditions laid down by the Company was the '

survender of Mir Kasim and Somru. The Nawab

replied that he regretted he could not surrender .

Mir Kasim, as he knew not where he might be,
‘having had him set upon a lame elephant and

turned out of the camp the day before the battie,

As for Somru, though his cautious tactics made
him of little use as an ally, he was too dangerous
an enemy to be attacked openly; but the Nawab
would undertake to invite him to a banquet, and
have him assassinated in the presence of any
ewissary whom the Company might send as a
witness.

It surprised and annoyed the Nawab to find

this offer rejected. Nevertheless, to his relief,
the English did not farther press him for the
surrender of the murderers, who, like the Nana

Sahib and Tantia Topee after the massacre of

Cawnpore, went each his way. Mir Kasim escaped
mto the Rohilla country, and after many years
and many intrigues, ended his miserable life
“unlawented even by his own family,” says a
native historian, in such dire poverty that his
last shawl had to be sold to buy him a winding-
sheet,
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| Bomru wandered up and dewn the country,-;_
 always carrying poison hidden in his clothes, for
fear of falling into the hands of the English.

. Mir Jafar was replaced in office, and when he
. died, which he did in a few months, he was
. succeeded by his son, an indolent profligate, who
was glad to allow the Company to collect the
revenues and provide for the defence of Bengal,
' Bihar, and Origsa, so long as they gave him a
yearly pension. “Thank God!” he exclaimed,
when the arrangement had been concluded, 1

t”

~shall now have as many dancing-girls as I like !
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KINGS OF THE SOUTH--1761-1782,

Wame French and English were fighting it out
in Bengal and the south, the young Raja of
Mysore — who, be it remembered, had sent a
force to help the English and Mohammad Al
at the siege of Trichinopoly — was extremely
malcontent,

His kingdom extended over about half the
territory of the modern State of Mysore, a fertile
and wealthy State which had enjoyed long peace,
thanks to its distance from Delhi, and the tribute
that it paid to the Marathas. In his capital at
Seringatapam he had wealth and jewels and ele-
phants, and all that the heart of a prince could
desire—save freedom. The real ruler of Mysore

and of the Raja was the Prime Minister.

For some time the Ruja had chafed under his
tyranny, before the old Rani, widow of a former
Raja, suggested that something might be done,
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~ with the help of a young man of Afghan descent,
who had commanded the Mysore contingent in
the campaign against the French., His name was
Hpidar' Ali, and he was wont to claim descent
from the last of the Adil Shahi Kings of Bijapur,
overthrown by Aurangzib; his father had been
‘an officer in the Moghul service. He was wholly
illiterate, ‘“and addicted to low pursuits,” but
clever enough. He had profited by the confusion,
after the head of the usurping Viceroy of the
Decean had been struck off upon the battlefield,
to secure a good share of the dead man’s treasure,
. before bringing his army home to Mysore, and
 he had succeeded in getting rid of the Marathas
when a misunderstanding over the payment of
chaut® had brought them into the Raja's territory.
He was a keen soldier and sportsman, and all the
thieves, scoundrels, and ruflians in the country-
side were eager to take service with him, attracted
by his **humble and agreeable manners,” and his
praiseworthy custom of making no deduction from

' soldier's pay. .

 When the matter was set before him, Haidax f
" saw no objections. With the help of a clever
. Brahman who kept Haidar's accounts-—a necessary

1 41The Lion! _
% Chawt—the tribute levied by the Marathas as a condition of
- not: attacking towns and districts-—similar to Danegeld. i
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a.lly for the soldler who to the end of hm da'.ys il

never achieved more penmanshlp than to serawl

an inverted H on official documents—-a palace

revolution was effected. The Minister was sent
about his business, and the unlucky Raja found

that he was no more his own master than before,
Haidar having taken up the reins of government.
The first revolution having been successful, Raja

and Rani now had the inspiration to try another,
Haidar’s Brahmaun was bribed to help them, and

called in the Marathas, his fellow-countrymen, who

attacked Seringapatam, and obliged Haidar to ride

nearly a hundred miles in twenty-four hours to
escape them, leaving his treasure, his artillery,
and his family behind bim. But the Raja enjoyed
his freedom only for a little while. The Marathas
were recalled to Poona; Haidar returned with a
following, surprised the Mysore camp, and was
acknowledged by the army. In retuwrn for life
and a yearly income, the Raja was compelled to
give him all authority, and henceforth had as little

to say in the adminigtration of Mysore ag had the

Emperor of Delhi in the Deccan or Oudh.

He was obliged, moreover, to surrender the
Brahman who had been his confederate.  The
Rani and the ladies of the Palace begged earnestly
for his life, and Haidar vowed to cherish the
Brahman as if he were his parrot. A parrot is



